
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

WESTERN DIVISION 

 

No. 5:16-cv-00063-BO 

 

KERNAN MANION, M.D., 

 

  Plaintiff, 

 

                    v. 

 

NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL BOARD,  

et al., 

 

  Defendants. 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

OF THE NORTH CAROLINA 

MEDICAL BOARD‟S AND  

BOARD-AFFILIATED DEFENDANTS‟ 

MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), 12(b)(2), 12(b)(6) 

 

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 7.2, the North Carolina Medical Board and the eight 

defendants who are affiliated with the Medical Board
1
 respectfully file this memorandum in 

support of their motion to dismiss Dr. Kernan Manion‟s complaint.    

INTRODUCTION 

This lawsuit challenges the North Carolina Medical Board‟s investigation into a 

physician‟s fitness to practice medicine, as well as the circumstances under which the physician 

inactivated his medical license, based on reports that he suffered from a delusional disorder.   

The physician, Dr. Kernan Manion, now seeks injunctive and declaratory relief to undo 

that inactivation and to reinstate his license.  He also seeks money damages.  He alleges 

violations of his rights under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1985, the Americans with Disabilities Act, 

                                                 
1
  The Board-affiliated defendants are R. David Henderson, Scott G. Kirby, Cheryl Walker-

McGill, Paul S. Camnitz, William A. Walker, Ralph C. Loomis, Janice E. Huff, and Pascal 

Odekwu.  (Compl. ¶¶ 25-29.)  In identifying the parties, Dr. Manion states that five of these 

defendants are sued in their individual capacities only.  (Id.)  In a jurisdictional section, however, 

he says that he has sued “every Defendant in their individual and official capacities.”  (Id. ¶ 7.)  

Given this inconsistency and in an abundance of caution, this memorandum treats all Board-

affiliated defendants as if they were sued in both capacities.  
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and state tort law.  He seeks relief for himself and for others who are similarly situated.   

Federal subject-matter jurisdiction over Dr. Manion‟s claims is lacking for the following 

reasons:  (1) the Eleventh Amendment immunizes the Medical Board and the Board-affiliated 

defendants from lawsuits in federal court; (2) Dr. Manion lacks standing; and (3) even if Dr. 

Manion could establish jurisdiction, Younger abstention applies here.   

Dr. Manion also fails to state claims for relief for the following reasons:  (1) the Board-

affiliated defendants have absolute immunity for their quasi-prosecutorial functions; (2) the 

individual defendants have qualified immunity for the alleged civil rights violations; (3) Dr. 

Manion‟s ADA claim fails because he cannot allege such a claim against individuals and because 

his theory for relief is implausible; and (4) Dr. Manion‟s tort claims fail because of state-law 

immunity, non-compliance with the applicable tort claims act, and failure to allege sufficient 

facts to make his entitlement to relief plausible. 

For all of these reasons, the Medical Board and Board-affiliated defendants respectfully 

request that the Court dismiss Dr. Manion‟s complaint.   

NATURE OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT ALLEGATIONS
2
 

The North Carolina Medical Board is an agency of the State of North Carolina.  Compl. 

¶ 12; see N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-2 (2015).  This lawsuit challenges what Dr. Manion refers to as the 

Medical Board‟s “summary suspension procedures.”  (Compl. ¶ 1.)  

Through these procedures, the Medical Board required Dr. Manion to undergo mental 

health evaluations to determine whether he was fit to practice medicine.  (Id. ¶¶ 13, 144, 166.)  

When an evaluation determined that Dr. Manion was delusional, the Medical Board told Dr. 

Manion that, if he did not stop practicing medicine and inactivate his license, the Board would 

                                                 
2
  For the purposes of this motion only, the moving defendants take Dr. Manion‟s 

allegations as true.  In fact, Defendants will dispute many of the allegations recited here. 
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sanction him and suspend his license involuntarily.  (Id. ¶¶ 72-74.)  If, however, Dr. Manion 

voluntarily inactivated his license, the Board offered to issue a nondisciplinary “Letter of 

Concern.”  (Id. ¶ 75.)  Dr. Manion accepted that offer and inactivated his license.  (Id. ¶¶ 76-77.)   

Dr. Manion alleges that this process was unlawful.  (Id. ¶ 1.)  He asks this Court to 

reinstate his license, enjoin the defendants from depriving his rights and those of similarly 

situated physicians, and award him compensation.  (Id. Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 1-6.) 

A. The Genesis of the Medical Board‟s Investigation 

Dr. Kernan Manion is a psychiatrist who obtained his license to practice medicine in 

North Carolina in 2002.  (Compl. ¶¶ 38, 43.)   

Between 2009 and 2010, Dr. Manion “experienced a series of events that led him to 

believe that he was being harassed” for having sued his previous employer.  (Id. ¶¶ 44-45.)  

These events “included noxious odors and low frequency noises in his home and place of 

business, and being followed.”  (Id. ¶ 46.)  In late 2010, he reported these events to a police 

detective.  (Id.)  The detective then contacted the Medical Board, expressing concern about Dr. 

Manion‟s mental health.  (Id. ¶¶ 47, 92, 93.)  The Medical Board opened an investigation into his 

mental fitness to practice medicine.  (Id. ¶¶ 47.) 

In response, Dr. Manion obtained his own evaluation from Dr. Edwin Carter, a 

psychologist, who opined that Dr. Manion did not have a delusional disorder.  (Id. ¶¶ 49-50.)   

B. The assessment by NCPHP and the order for secondary evaluation 

 

In October 2011, the Medical Board ordered Dr. Manion to be assessed by the North 

Carolina Physicians Health Program (NCPHP).  (Id. ¶ 52.)  NCPHP is a nonprofit organization 

engaged in “identifying impaired [physician] licensees, implementing appropriate measures to 

protect public health and safety, and rehabilitating impaired licensees.”  (Id. ¶ 20.)  North 
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Carolina law authorizes the Board “to require a physician licensed by it to submit to a mental or 

physical examination by physicians designated by the Board.”  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-14(a)(5) 

(2015) (emphasis added).  If a physician‟s “health and effectiveness have been significantly 

impaired by . . . mental illness,” the Board must refer that physician to NCPHP.  Id. § 90-14(b).    

Dr. Warren Pendergast, NCPHP‟s medical director, evaluated Dr. Manion in December 

2011.  (Compl. ¶¶ 23, 53.)  Dr. Manion also provided a urine sample for drug testing.  (Id. ¶ 53.)   

NCPHP concluded that Dr. Manion should complete a comprehensive assessment at one 

of two mental health facilities—Acumen Assessments, Inc., or the Professional Renewal Center.  

(Id. ¶ 57.)  Dr. Manion refused to go to either facility.  (Id. ¶ 67.)   

In February 2012, the Medical Board ordered him to be evaluated at Acumen pursuant to 

its authority under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-14(a)(5).  (Id. ¶ 68.)  

C. Dr. Manion‟s State-court Litigation Challenging the Evaluation Order 

In April 2012, Dr. Manion filed suit against the Medical Board in New Hanover County 

Superior Court, seeking a restraining order against the Board‟s evaluation order.  Id. ¶ 69; 

Exhibit 1 ¶ 4.
3
  He alleged, among other things, that the evaluation order violated his due process 

rights.  Exhibit 1 ¶ 4.  The Medical Board moved to dismiss.  The superior court granted the 

Medical Board‟s motion on December 10, 2012.  Id. at 4. 

The superior court held that it lacked subject-matter jurisdiction because Dr. Manion had 

                                                 
3
  Exhibit 1 is the publicly filed order of the New Hanover County Superior Court that 

dismisses Dr. Manion‟s earlier lawsuit against the Medical Board.  This Court may take judicial 

notice of that order, which is a public record, without converting the Rule 12(b)(6) motion into a 

motion for summary judgment.  See Parker v. Kelly Servs., Inc., No. 4:13-CV-111-FL, 2014 WL 

886821, at *3 (E.D.N.C. Mar. 6, 2014) (unpublished).  Under Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(2), the 

Court may also consider material outside the pleadings, such as this order, without converting 

this motion into one for summary judgment.  See Richmond, Fredericksburg & Potomac R.R. 

Co. v. United States, 945 F.2d 765, 768 (4th Cir. 1991); Wilson-Cook Med., Inc. v. Wilson, 942 

F.2d 247, 252 (4th Cir. 1991). 
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not exhausted his administrative remedies as required by the North Carolina Administrative 

Procedure Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 150B-1 to -52 (2011).  Exhibit 1 ¶ 11.  Addressing the merits, 

in the alternative, the court held that Dr. Manion‟s complaint failed to state a claim.  Id. ¶ 13.  

The court held that due process rights do not attach during a Medical Board investigation into a 

physician‟s fitness to practice.  Id.  Instead, those rights attach when the Board initiates a formal 

adjudicatory proceeding by filing disciplinary charges.  Id.  Because the order requiring Dr. 

Manion to undergo a psychological evaluation was part of the Board‟s investigation into Dr. 

Manion‟s fitness to practice medicine, his due process rights were not yet implicated.  Id.   

D. The 2013 Evaluation and the Inactivation of Dr. Manion‟s License 

While Dr. Manion‟s state court case was pending, the Medical Board brought public 

disciplinary charges against him for failure to comply with the Board‟s 2012 evaluation order.  

(Compl. ¶ 71.)  Dr. Manion eventually sought evaluation, but instead of going to Acumen, he 

traveled to New York to be evaluated by Dr. Barry Rosenfeld and Dr. Paul Appelbaum.  (Id. 

¶ 72.)  This evaluation took place in January 2013.  (Id.) 

Dr. Appelbaum concluded that Dr. Manion was delusional.  (Id.)  Dr. Manion objects to 

this evaluation because Dr. Appelbaum spoke with Dr. Pendergast before the evaluation.  (Id.)  

Dr. Manion contends that this conversation biased Dr. Appelbaum against him.  (Id.) 

After learning that Dr. Appelbaum diagnosed Dr. Manion as delusional, the Medical 

Board, through its prosecutor Brian Blankenship, told Dr. Manion that it planned to pursue the 

suspension of Dr. Manion‟s medical license on the ground that Dr. Manion was incapable of 

safely practicing medicine.  (Id. ¶¶ 73-74.)  Mr. Blankenship also warned Dr. Manion that he 

could face felony charges if he practiced medicine without a license.  (Id. ¶ 73.)   

The Board offered a compromise.  If Dr. Manion voluntarily inactivated his license and 
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agreed to a nondisciplinary “Letter of Concern,” the Board would not seek to suspend his license 

or take any other disciplinary action.  (Id. ¶¶ 75-76.)  Dr. Manion accepted.  He inactivated his 

license, and the Medical Board dismissed all charges against him with prejudice.  (Id. ¶¶ 76-77.)   

Dr. Manion now wishes to reactivate his license and has sought to do so.  (Id. ¶ 78.)  He 

has obtained his own evaluation which states that he is not delusional and that the evaluations of 

Drs. Rosenfeld, Appelbaum, and Pendergast were flawed and incorrect.  (Id.)  The Medical 

Board informed Dr. Manion that, in order to reactivate his license, he must be re-evaluated by 

NCPHP.  Id. ¶ 79; see N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-14(a).  When Dr. Manion objected to this, the Board 

offered instead that he be evaluated by a different provider approved by the Board.  (Compl. 

¶ 80.)  Dr. Manion declined.  (Id.)   

E.  Dr. Manion‟s Claims 

Based on these allegations, Dr. Manion asserts the following eight
4
 claims, as numbered 

in the complaint, against the Medical Board and the Board-affiliated defendants: 

(1) procedural due process violations based on requiring mental health evaluations 

and coercing Dr. Manion to inactivate his license under threat of prosecution (id. 

¶¶ 101, 116-18, 123); 

 

(2) “systemic” procedural due process violations against all “licensees wrongly 

accused of being impaired” (id. ¶¶ 128-29, 131, 135); 

 

(3) substantive due process violations based on depriving Dr. Manion of fundamental 

rights to bodily integrity, liberty, and property (id. ¶¶ 140-42, 150-53); 

 

(4) unreasonable search and seizure violating the Fourth Amendment (id. ¶¶ 159-62); 

 

(5) conspiracy to deprive Dr. Manion of licensure, health care, and equal treatment as 

a person regarded as disabled, in violation of section 1985 (id. ¶¶ 169-72);  

 

(6) violation of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act,  42 U.S.C. § 12132 

(id. ¶¶ 184-90); 

                                                 
4
  This motion does not address Dr. Manion‟s ninth claim for medical negligence (id. 

¶¶ 209-19) because it is asserted against non-Medical Board defendants only. 
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(7) common-law intentional infliction of emotional distress (id. ¶¶ 198-201); and  

(8) common-law negligent infliction of emotional distress (id. ¶¶ 203-07).  

GOVERNING STANDARDS 

When a party challenges subject-matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1), the nonmovant 

(here, Dr. Manion) must prove that subject-matter jurisdiction exists by a preponderance of the 

evidence.  U.S. ex rel. Vuyyuru v. Jadhav, 555 F.3d 337, 347 (4th Cir. 2009).   

When a party challenges personal jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(2), the nonmovant must 

make a “prima facie showing of a sufficient jurisdictional basis.”  Combs v. Bakker, 886 F.2d 

673, 676 (4th Cir. 1989).  If the movant provides specific facts that contradict the nonmovant‟s 

jurisdictional allegations, the allegations cannot support personal jurisdiction.  See Carefirst of 

Md., Inc. v. Carefirst Pregnancy Ctrs., Inc., 334 F.3d 390, 396, 402-03 (4th Cir. 2003). 

Finally, to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a complaint must allege enough facts “to raise 

a right to relief above the speculative level” and “to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 570 (2007).  “[N]aked assertions devoid 

of „further factual enhancement‟” cannot survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 

U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557).   

ARGUMENT 

I. THE ELEVENTH AMENDMENT BARS DR. MANION‟S CLAIMS. 

 

The Eleventh Amendment bars private parties from suing non-consenting states in federal 

court.  Bd. of Trs. of Univ. of Ala. v. Garrett, 531 U.S. 356, 363 (2001).  For claims against 

states and their agencies, this bar applies regardless of the relief sought.  Pennhurst State Sch. & 

Hosp. v. Halderman, 465 U.S. 89, 100 (1984).  It implicates both subject-matter and personal 

jurisdiction.  Constantine v. Rectors & Visitors of George Mason Univ., 411 F.3d 474, 480 (4th 
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Cir. 2005); see also Order Granting Mot. to Dismiss, Jemsek v. North Carolina, No. 5:14-CV-

504-BO, at 9 (E.D.N.C. Mar. 20, 2015) (unpublished) [Jemsek Order], appeal filed, No. 15-1420 

(4th Cir. Apr. 21, 2015). 

Eleventh-Amendment immunity extends not only to states, but also to state agencies and 

to state officers in their official capacities.  See Pennhurst, 465 U.S. at 100-02.  This protection 

also extends to state officers named in their individual capacities if their alleged conduct is, in 

reality, official in nature.  See Martin v. Wood, 772 F.3d 192, 195-96 (4th Cir. 2014). 

These principles bar Dr. Manion‟s claims against the Board and its affiliated defendants.  

A. The Medical Board Has Eleventh-Amendment Immunity. 

There is no dispute that the Medical Board is a state agency.  See Compl. ¶ 12; Jemsek 

Order, No. 5:14-CV-504-BO, at 6.  The Eleventh Amendment bars a federal-court lawsuit 

against such an agency, and Dr. Manion has alleged no waiver or abrogation of Eleventh-

Amendment immunity.  See Virginia Office for Prot. & Advocacy v. Stewart, 563 U.S. 247, 254 

(2011).  His claims against the Board therefore fall outside of federal subject-matter jurisdiction. 

B. The Board-Affiliated Defendants Also Have Eleventh-Amendment Immunity. 

 

Eleventh-Amendment immunity extends equally to the Medical Board-affiliated 

defendants in their official capacities.  See Pennhurst, 465 U.S. at 101; Al-Deen v. Trs. of Univ. 

of N.C., Wilmington, 102 F. Supp. 3d 758, 764 (E.D.N.C. 2015).  Thus, any claims against the 

Board-affiliated defendants in their official capacities fall outside federal subject-matter 

jurisdiction.  (See Compl. ¶¶ 7, 25-26, 29.)   

Dr. Manion‟s claims against the Board-affiliated defendants in their individual capacities 

fare no better.  A plaintiff “cannot circumvent the Eleventh Amendment by naming [defendants] 

in their individual capacities if, in reality, [he] is suing them for actions taken by them in their 
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official capacities.”  Martin, 772 F.3d at 195.  As shown below, that is the case here. 

In Martin, the Fourth Circuit addressed a complaint that made similar “conclusory 

allegations” concerning the individual capacities of state-officer defendants.  Id. at 196.  To 

determine whether the complaint “nonetheless effectively state[d] a claim against the [State] 

itself,” the court “look[ed] beyond the form of the complaint . . . to determine who is the „real, 

substantial party in interest.‟”  Id. at 195-96 (quoting Pennhurst, 465 U.S. at 101).  This inquiry 

asks such questions as whether the officials‟ actions were “tied inextricably to their official 

duties,” whether these actions were “taken to further personal interests distinct from the State‟s 

interests,” and whether these actions were “ultra vires.”  Id. at 196.  The court held that the state 

was the real party in interest, because “[t]he complaint include[d] no allegation that . . . [the state 

officers] acted in an ultra vires manner or attempted to serve personal interests distinct from the 

[state agency‟s] interests.”  Id.   

Here, the Medical Board is the real party in interest.  The complaint fails to allege that 

any of the Board-affiliated defendants acted in an ultra vires manner or attempted to serve 

personal interests distinct from those of the Medical Board.  In fact, Dr. Manion‟s statement of 

facts does not allege that these individuals did anything.  (Compl. ¶¶ 38-82.)  Instead, he 

attributes the allegedly unlawful conduct to “NCMB,” an unidentified “NCMB investigator,” and 

the Medical Board‟s “chief prosecutor” who is not named in the complaint.  (Id. ¶¶ 49, 73.)  Dr. 

Manion even attributes these actions to Board “policy,” indicating that the individual defendants 

were acting under Board authority.  (See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 106, 110-11, 128-29, 137, 149.)  The 

complaint makes one vague, conclusory allegation that all the individual defendants were 

“personally involved” in the “unconstitutional practices” that he attributes to the Medical Board 

earlier in his complaint.  (Id. ¶ 132.)  That allegation, however, just shows that the individual 
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defendants‟ actions were “inextricably tied to their official duties.”  Martin, 772 F.3d at 193.   

Moreover, Dr. Manion‟s complaint itself shows that the actions he challenges are all 

authorized by state law and therefore cannot be ultra vires.  He states that the Medical Board “is 

empowered to require the examination of a licensee” if “the licensee‟s fitness to practice 

skillfully and safely has been compromised by reason of . . . mental abnormality.”  Compl. ¶ 13 

(internal quotation marks omitted); see N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-14(a)(5).  He further states that the 

Medical Board “has the ultimate authority to restrict, suspend, or revoke the license of a licensee 

who is unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients.”  Compl. ¶ 14; see N.C. 

Gen. Stat. § 90-14(a)(5).  Although Dr. Manion disputes the methods by which the Medical 

Board carried out its functions, his complaint shows that those functions were at least authorized 

and were therefore not ultra vires.  (Compl. ¶¶ 52, 67, 71-72, 171, 189.) 

In sum, the complaint shows that the Board-affiliated defendants were acting for the 

Medical Board.  Accordingly, Dr. Manion‟s attempt to “circumvent the Eleventh Amendment by 

naming [these defendants] in their individual capacities” fails.  Martin, 772 F.3d at 195. 

C. The Ex Parte Young Exception Does Not Apply. 

 

Dr. Manion‟s claims against the Board-affiliated defendants do not fit within the 

exception created by Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908).  In Ex parte Young, the Supreme 

Court held that the Eleventh Amendment does not bar jurisdiction over an official-capacity claim 

that seeks prospective relief to prevent ongoing or threatened violations of federal law.  Id. at 

159-60.  A claim fits within this exception only if it alleges an ongoing violation of federal law 

and seeks prospective relief to prevent it.  Verizon Md. Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm‟n, 535 U.S. 

635, 645 (2002).   

When, in contrast, “the alleged violation of federal law occurred entirely in the past,” Ex 
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parte Young does not apply.  DeBauche v. Trani, 191 F.3d 499, 505 (4th Cir. 1999).  DeBauche 

illustrates this principle.  In that case, a Virginia gubernatorial candidate alleged that her rights 

were violated when she was excluded from a debate at a state university.  Id. at 502.  She sued 

the university and its president under section 1983, seeking a declaratory judgment that she was 

deprived of her constitutional rights, and an injunction to bar the defendants from excluding her 

from future debates.  Id. at 504.  Because these claims concerned a past event, the Fourth Circuit 

held that the claims fell outside the Ex parte Young exception.  Id. at 505. 

Dr. Manion‟s claims, like the claims in DeBauche, seek injunctive and declaratory relief 

to address events—the Medical Board‟s orders for evaluations and the “constructive suspension” 

of Dr. Manion‟s license—that “occurred entirely in the past.”  Id.  The Ex parte Young exception 

therefore does not apply here.  See Al-Deen, 102 F. Supp. 3d at 765. 

Dr. Manion might contend that his attempt to reactivate his license creates an ongoing 

injury under Ex parte Young.  (See Compl. Prayer for Relief ¶ 4.)  That argument fails because 

by seeking reinstatement, Dr. Manion is seeking to “undo accomplished state action.”  Rep. of 

Paraguay v. Allen, 134 F.3d 622, 628 (4th Cir. 1998).  Republic of Paraguay is instructive.  

There, the government of Paraguay sought an injunction to vacate a criminal sentence imposed 

on a Paraguayan national because the Commonwealth of Virginia had violated a treaty with 

Paraguay by failing to inform the Paraguayan national of his right to contact his country‟s 

consulate while in custody.  Id. at 626.  The Fourth Circuit concluded that, even though this 

relief could be accomplished through injunctive relief, it was “quintessentially retrospective.”  

Id. at 628.  The “effect” of the injunction would be “to undo accomplished state action.”  Id.   

Like Paraguay‟s effort to undo a criminal conviction through an injunction, Dr. Manion‟s 

request for injunctive relief attempts to undo the suspension of his license that occurred in the 
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past.  Even if he is seeking to remedy the “continued effects” or the “by-products” of the past 

action he challenges, his claims are still retrospective.  Jemsek Order, No. 5:14-CV-504-BO, at 

8.  Those claims fall outside the Ex parte Young exception to Eleventh-Amendment immunity.   

II. DR. MANION LACKS STANDING TO BRING MOST OF HIS CLAIMS. 

 

A party who invokes federal jurisdiction must establish standing under Article III of the 

U.S. Constitution.  Clapper v. Amnesty Int‟l USA, 133 S. Ct. 1138, 1148 (2013).  Standing has 

three requirements:  injury in fact, causation, and redressability.  Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 

U.S. 555, 561 (1992).  Dr. Manion‟s claims for injunctive and declaratory relief fail for lack of 

redressability.  (Compl. Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 2, 4.)  Injunctive and declaratory relief cannot 

redress past conduct, the focus of Dr. Manion‟s claims.  In addition, Dr. Manion cannot claim 

relief on behalf of third parties who he alleges are “similarly situated.”  (Id. ¶ 2.)  

A. An Injunction or Declaration Cannot Redress Past Conduct. 

As shown below, Dr. Manion‟s claims of injury from the Medical Board‟s “summary 

suspension procedures” cannot be redressed by injunctive or declaratory relief.  (Compl. ¶ 1.) 

“The sole function of an action for injunction is to forestall future violations.”  United 

States v. Or. State Med. Soc‟y, 343 U.S. 326, 333 (1952).  When a claim alleges only “past 

exposure to illegal conduct,” an injunction cannot remedy the injury.  City of Los Angeles v. 

Lyons, 461 U.S. 95, 102 (1983).  Similarly, a plaintiff cannot redress a past wrong through a 

judicial declaration.  Id. at 104-05; see Simmons v. Poe, 47 F.3d 1370, 1382 (4th Cir. 1995).  

Dr. Manion seeks to remedy the inactivation of his license in 2013.  (Compl. ¶¶ 1, 76-77.)  

No injunction or declaration from this Court could redress this past injury.  Dr. Manion therefore 

lacks standing to seek equitable relief with respect to any summary suspension procedures. 

Case 5:16-cv-00063-BO   Document 42   Filed 04/11/16   Page 12 of 31



 

 13 

B. Dr. Manion Lacks Third-Party Standing.  

Dr. Manion also has no standing to seek relief on behalf of “similarly situated” 

individuals.  (Id. Prayer for Relief ¶ 2.)   

“[A] party „generally must assert his own legal rights and interests, and cannot rest his 

claim to relief on the legal rights or interests of third parties.‟”  Kowalski v. Tesmer, 543 U.S. 

125, 129 (2004) (quoting Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 499 (1975)).  An exception to this rule, 

the doctrine of third-party standing, requires a plaintiff to show a “close relationship with the 

person who possesses the right,” and that there is some “hindrance” keeping the third person 

from protecting her own interests.  Id. at 130. 

Dr. Manion has not made this required showing.  His second claim seeks relief on behalf 

of all NCPHP “participants,” all “unimpaired licensees,” and all “wrongly accused” licensees.  

(Compl. ¶¶ 127, 129, 131.)  This claim merely asserts that the due process violations in his first 

claim were also committed against others on a systemic basis.  (Compare id. ¶¶ 101, 106, 110-

11, 116, 118, with id. ¶¶ 128, 131, 135.)  But Dr. Manion does not allege a close relationship 

with these physicians or that they are unable to protect their own interests.  See Kowalski, 543 

U.S. at 130.  Accordingly, he has no standing to claim relief on behalf of the third parties.  Thus, 

his second claim should be dismissed.
5
 

III. YOUNGER ABSTENTION BARS DR. MANION‟S CLAIMS. 

Even if the Court had jurisdiction over any of Dr. Manion‟s claims, abstention under 

Younger v. Harris, 401 U.S. 37 (1971), would be warranted. 

                                                 
5
  Dr. Manion also complains that the defendants‟ actions injured his patients.  (Compl. 

¶¶ 104, 135, 144.)  He seeks no relief on behalf of those patients.  (See id. Prayer for Relief.)  

Even if he did, he would have no standing, for the same reasons.  See Kowalski, 543 U.S. at 130. 
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In Younger, the Supreme Court recognized the “strong federal policy against federal-

court interference with pending state judicial proceedings absent extraordinary circumstances.”  

Middlesex Cty. Ethics Comm‟n v. Garden State Bar Ass‟n, 457 U.S. 423, 431 (1982).  “[T]he 

purpose of abstention is to ensure that state courts may construe state law in a way that avoids 

unwarranted determinations of federal constitutional questions and to maintain comity between 

the state and federal courts.”  Laurel Sand & Gravel, Inc. v. Wilson, 519 F.3d 156, 166 (4th Cir. 

2008).  “Younger „contemplates the outright dismissal of the federal suit, and the presentation of 

all claims, both state and federal, to the state courts.‟”  Nivens v. Gilchrist, 444 F.3d 237, 246 

(4th Cir. 2006) (quoting Gibson v. Berryhill, 411 U.S. 564, 577 (1973)). 

Three types of state proceedings support Younger abstention.  Sprint Commc‟ns, Inc. v. 

Jacobs, 134 S. Ct. 584, 591 (2013).  These include ongoing state criminal prosecutions, certain 

civil enforcement proceedings, and civil proceedings involving the state court‟s ability to 

perform its judicial functions.  Id.  A state agency‟s professional disciplinary proceedings are 

civil enforcement proceedings for the purposes of Younger abstention.  Middlesex , 457 U.S. at 

433-34.  Physician licensure proceedings, in particular, fall into this category.  Simopoulos v. Va. 

State Bd. of Med., 644 F.2d 321, 329-30 (4th Cir. 1981); Doe v. State of Conn., Dep‟t of Health 

Servs., 75 F.3d 81, 85 (2d Cir. 1996); Bettencourt v. Bd. of Registration in Med., 904 F.2d 772, 

777-79 (1st Cir. 1990); Battersby v. Carew, No. CA 8:14-761-HMH, 2014 WL 4269109, at *5-6 

(D.S.C. Aug. 28, 2014) (unpublished), aff‟d, 601 F. App‟x 225 (4th Cir. 2015).  Dr. Manion‟s 

Medical Board proceedings thus support abstention. 

In addition to analyzing the nature of the underlying state proceeding, courts traditionally 

analyze three additional factors for Younger abstention: (1) whether the underlying state 

proceeding is pending when a federal lawsuit is filed; (2) whether the state proceeding involves 
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important state interests; and (3) whether the state proceeding gives the federal plaintiff an 

adequate opportunity to present his federal claims.  Wilson, 519 F.3d at 165.  All three 

considerations call for abstention here. 

A. Dr. Manion‟s Dispute with the Board is Pending. 

 

For Younger purposes, a proceeding is still “pending” if one bypasses state-court 

appellate remedies and brings federal claims that would invalidate or nullify the state court‟s 

judgment.  Id. at 166-67.  This principle extends to decisions issued in state administrative 

proceedings, Moore v. City of Asheville, 396 F.3d 385, 388 (4th Cir. 2005), even if the plaintiff 

“failed to exhaust administrative appeals” and “default[ed] on his appellate rights,” id. at 396.   

That is the case here.  Dr. Manion had administrative and judicial remedies available to 

challenge the Medical Board‟s procedures, but failed to use them.  Instead of accepting the offer 

from the Medical Board‟s prosecutor to inactivate his own license in lieu of facing suspension 

charges (Compl. ¶¶ 73-74), Dr. Manion could have challenged those charges at a hearing.  See 

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-14.2.  If he failed at that hearing, he could have sought review of the 

Medical Board‟s decision by Wake County Superior Court.  See id. § 90-14.8(b).  He could then 

appeal.  See id. § 90-14.11.  Alternatively, if Dr. Manion believed he had no choice but to forgo 

the opportunity for a hearing and inactivate his license, he could have sought judicial review 

under the North Carolina Administrative Procedures Act.  Id. § 150B-43; see In re Lustgarten, 

177 N.C. App. 663, 668-69, 629 S.E.2d 886, 889-90 (2006).  In either event, the scope of judicial 

review available to him included review of the Medical Board‟s failure to reinstate his inactive 

license.  See In re Magee, 87 N.C. App. 650, 654, 362 S.E.2d 564, 566-67 (1987). 

Thus, even though Dr. Manion failed to exhaust his administrative appeals, those appeals 

are still pending for purposes of Younger abstention.  See Moore, 396 F.3d at 396. 
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B. The Licensing of Medical Professionals Is an Important State Interest. 

The licensing of medical professionals is an important state interest under Younger.  See 

Harper v. Pub. Serv. Comm‟n, 396 F.3d 348, 353 (4th Cir. 2005); Majors v. Engelbrecht, 149 

F.3d 709, 713 (7th Cir. 1998); Doe, 75 F.3d at 85.  

Here, the state proceeding in question allegedly involves the “constructive suspension” of 

Dr. Manion‟s medical license by the Medical Board.  (Compl. ¶ 171.)  That proceeding followed 

from the Board‟s conclusion that Dr. Manion‟s delusional condition made him unable to practice 

medicine safely.  (Id. ¶¶ 73, 119.)  It is therefore “beyond dispute” that this proceeding involves 

important state interests under Younger.  Majors, 149 F.3d at 713. 

C. Dr. Manion Had an Adequate Opportunity to Present His Federal Claims in the 

State-Court Proceeding. 

 

Dr. Manion could have presented his claims in state court.  The fact that he alleges 

federal violations does not bar Younger abstention.  See, e.g., Nivens v. Gilchrist, 319 F.3d 151, 

155 (4th Cir. 2003); Gilbert v. N. C. State Bar, 660 F. Supp. 2d 636, 645 (E.D.N.C. 2009).  For 

the purposes of abstention “it is sufficient . . . that constitutional claims may be raised in state-

court judicial review of the administrative proceeding.”  Ohio Civil Rights Comm‟n v. Dayton 

Christian Sch., Inc., 477 U.S. 619, 629 (1986).  Dr. Manion‟s claims satisfy this test. 

The scope of judicial review of agency decisions in North Carolina courts includes 

“violation[s] of constitutional provisions,” “unlawful procedure[s],” and any “other error of law.”  

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-51(b).  This covers all of Dr. Manion‟s claims. 

As a practical matter, moreover, North Carolina courts can and do hear the federal claims 

alleged here.  See, e.g., In re Lustgarten, 177 N.C. App. at 668-69, 629 S.E.2d at 889-90 

(procedural due process challenge to Medical Board licensing action); In re Magee, 87 N.C. App. 

at 654, 362 S.E.2d at 567 (same); In re Adoption of B.J.R., 767 S.E.2d 395, 397 (N.C. Ct. App. 
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2014) (substantive due process claim); Glenn-Robinson v. Acker, 140 N.C. App. 606, 612, 538 

S.E.2d 601, 608 (2000) (Fourth Amendment claim); Johnson v. Trs. of Durham Tech. Cmty. 

Coll., 139 N.C. App. 676, 684, 535 S.E.2d 357, 363 (2000) (ADA claim).  North Carolina courts 

may also hear claims for money damages under section 1983, MCC Outdoor, LLC v. Town of 

Wake Forest, 222 N.C. App. 70, 73, 729 S.E.2d 694, 696 (2012), and for conspiracy under 

section 1985, Burton v. City of Durham, 118 N.C. App. 676, 683, 457 S.E.2d 329, 334 (1995).  

Dr. Manion therefore had an adequate opportunity to raise his federal claims in state court. 

Because all of the considerations for Younger abstention apply here, all of Dr. Manion‟s 

claims should be “outright dismiss[ed].”  Nivens, 444 F.3d at 246. 

IV. PROSECUTORIAL IMMUNITY SHIELDS THE BOARD-AFFILIATED 

DEFENDANTS FROM LAWSUITS FOR DAMAGES.  

 

Dr. Manion fails to state a claim for monetary damages against the named Board-

affiliated defendants because they have quasi-judicial immunity.  On that ground, the claims are 

properly dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).  Ostrzenski v. Seigel, 177 F.3d 245, 253 (4th Cir. 1999).  

 Government officials who are immune from damages liability include judges, 

prosecutors, and “„quasi-judicial‟ agency officials whose duties are comparable to those of 

judges or prosecutors when adequate procedural safeguards exist.”  Id. at 249.  As the Fourth 

Circuit noted in Ostrzenski, “[e]very court of appeals that has addressed the issue has concluded 

that members of a state medical disciplinary board are entitled to absolute quasi-judicial 

immunity for performing judicial or prosecutorial functions.”  Id. (collecting cases).   

Ostrzenski also extended quasi-judicial immunity to non-board members who are “one 

step removed” from the board and perform a “protected prosecutorial function” for the board.  

Id.  There, the court applied immunity to an individual who peer-reviewed a physician‟s practice 

to determine whether to recommend charges against the physician by the state medical board.  
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Id. at 250.  The Fourth Circuit held that these actions were analogous to a prosecutor‟s actions 

“in preparing for the initiation of judicial proceedings.”  Id. (quoting Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, 

509 U.S. 259, 273 (1993)); see id. at 251.   

Other courts of appeals have applied immunity to the staff members of state medical 

boards who take part in “procedural steps involved in the eventual decision denying” license 

reinstatement, Olsen v. Idaho State Bd. of Med., 363 F.3d 916, 928 (9th Cir. 2004), those who 

“instigat[e] and prosecut[e]” charges against licensees, Wang v. N.H. Bd. of Registration in 

Med., 55 F.3d 698, 701 (1st Cir. 1995), and those who participate in “the decision to sanction” 

licensees, Bettencourt, 904 F.2d at 785.  See also Howard v. Miller, 870 F. Supp. 340, 345 (N.D. 

Ga. 1994) (applying immunity to a medical board‟s executive director and medical director). 

Here, as in these cases, a physician is seeking damages from persons affiliated with a 

state medical board for their alleged involvement in the medical board‟s protected prosecutorial 

functions.  See Ostrzenski, 177 F.3d at 249-50.  These individuals include the Board‟s chief 

executive officer, its chief medical officer, and past and current Board Members.  (Compl. ¶¶ 25-

29.)  Although Dr. Manion has failed to allege any specific actions that these Board-affiliated 

defendants have taken, he alleges that the Board‟s “summary suspension procedures” are the 

source of his injury.  (Id. ¶ 1.)  These procedures, which Dr. Manion attributes most directly to 

the Medical Board‟s “chief prosecutor” (id. ¶¶ 73-77), are analogous to the actions a criminal 

prosecutor takes “in preparing for the initiation of judicial proceedings.”  Ostrzenki, 177 F.3d at 

251.   

Accordingly, under Ostrzenski, the Board-affiliated defendants are immune from Dr. 

Manion‟s claims for money damages.  See id.; Howard, 870 F. Supp. at 345. 
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V. QUALIFIED IMMUNITY SHIELDS THE INDIVIDUAL BOARD-AFFILIATED 

DEFENDANTS FROM LIABILITY FOR FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATIONS. 

 

Dr. Manion‟s claims under sections 1983 and 1985 (Counts One through Five) fail under 

Rule 12(b)(6) for another reason:  the Board-affiliated defendants have qualified immunity.
6
   

In the context of a motion to dismiss, “qualified immunity protects government officials 

from liability for civil damages „unless a plaintiff pleads facts showing (1) that the official 

violated a statutory or constitutional right, and (2) that the right was “clearly established” at the 

time of the challenged conduct.‟”  Wood v. Moss, 134 S. Ct. 2056, 2066-67 (2014) (quoting 

Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 131 S. Ct. 2074, 2080 (2011)).  A court has discretion to “address either 

prong of the qualified immunity analysis first.”  West v. Murphy, 771 F.3d 209, 214 (4th Cir. 

2014).  A finding that the alleged violation was not clearly established “makes it unnecessary to 

take up the merits” of the claims at issue.  Id.  The analysis below shows that the alleged rights 

violations were not clearly established.  It then shows that, even if these rights were clearly 

established, Dr. Manion has failed to allege them plausibly. 

 A. The Alleged Civil Rights Violations Were Not Clearly Established. 

It was not clearly established, at the time of the events in question, that the Board-

affiliated defendants‟ actions violated Dr. Manion‟s federal civil rights. 

A right is clearly established if “„the contours of a right are sufficiently clear‟ that every 

„reasonable official would have understood that what he is doing violates that right.‟”  West, 771 

F.3d at 213 (quoting al-Kidd, 131 S. Ct. at 2083).  This Court looks to cases from the Supreme 

Court, the Fourth Circuit, and the North Carolina Supreme Court to decide whether a right was 

                                                 
6
  As discussed supra pp. 8-10, the Board-affiliated defendants, even as named in their 

individual capacities, may not be sued for damages under sections 1983 or 1985 for actions taken 

in their official capacities.  This qualified-immunity analysis assumes, for the sake of argument 

only, that the defendants are properly sued in their individual capacities.  
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clearly established at the time of the challenged conduct.  See id.  Those precedents “must have 

placed the statutory or constitutional question beyond debate.”  Id. (emphasis added) (quoting al-

Kidd, 131 S. Ct. at 2083).  “This exacting standard „gives government officials breathing room to 

make reasonable but mistaken judgments‟ by „protect[ing] all but the plainly incompetent or 

those who knowingly violate the law.‟”  City & Cty. of San Francisco v. Sheehan, 135 S. Ct. 

1765, 1774 (2015) (emphasis added) (quoting al-Kidd, 131 S. Ct. at 2085). 

A plaintiff may not “define clearly established law at a high level of generality.”  al-Kidd, 

131 S. Ct. at 2084.  Instead, “[t]he dispositive question is „whether the violative nature of 

particular conduct is clearly established.‟”  Mullenix v. Luna, 136 S. Ct. 305, 308 (2015) 

(quoting al-Kidd, 131 S. Ct. at 2084).  This question must be considered “in light of the specific 

context of the case, not as a broad general proposition.”  Id. (quoting Brosseau v. Haugen, 543 

U.S. 194, 198 (2004)). 

Properly defined, this case presents two questions: 

(1)  Whether, in October 2011, February 2012, and May 2015, it violated clearly 

established law for a state medical licensing board to require a licensee to undergo 

drug tests and psychological evaluations to determine whether the physician could 

safely practice medicine, given mixed reports on the physician‟s mental health.  

(Compl. ¶¶ 52, 68, 79-80.) 

 

(2) Whether, in February 2013, after learning that a physician had been diagnosed as 

delusional and after receiving from the physician a competing report that he was 

not delusional, (id. ¶¶ 49-50, 72), it violated clearly established law for a medical 

licensing board‟s prosecutor to threaten the physician with license suspension and 

disciplinary charges if he did not inactivate his own license.  (See id. ¶¶ 73-75).  

 

 The Board-affiliated defendants are aware of no controlling precedent that would put it 

“beyond debate” that the above actions violated the law.  West, 771 F.3d at 213.  Rather, long-

standing precedents suggested the opposite:  compelling government interests justify testing 

highly regulated professionals who affect the public safety.  See, e.g., Skinner v. Ry. Labor 
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Executives‟ Ass‟n, 489 U.S. 602 (1989) (upholding drug testing for railway workers); Nat‟l 

Treasury Employees Union v. Von Raab, 489 U.S. 656 (1989) (same for customs workers).  

Because Dr. Manion cannot show violations of clearly established law, this Court may dismiss 

his federal civil rights claims without reaching the merits.  See West, 771 F.3d at 214, 216. 

B. Dr. Manion Does Not Plausibly Allege Any Civil Rights Violations. 

The Board-affiliated defendants are also entitled to qualified immunity because Dr. 

Manion‟s federal civil rights claims fail on the merits.  The complaint does not demonstrate how 

the individual defendants were responsible for any violations, and the complaint does not 

sufficiently plead violations of the law. 

 1. There are no specific allegations concerning the individual defendants. 

A complaint that offers only “labels and conclusions,” or “„naked assertion[s]‟ devoid of 

„further factual enhancement,‟” fails under the federal pleading standard.  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 

(quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555, 557).  Dr. Manion‟s allegations against the individual 

Board-affiliated defendants fail under this standard. 

A similar case from the Eastern District of Virginia demonstrates this inadequacy.  See 

Vuyyuru v. Jadhav, No. 3:10-CV-173, 2011 WL 1483725, at *12 (E.D. Va. Apr. 19, 2011) 

(unpublished) aff‟d, 501 F. App‟x 294 (4th Cir. 2012).  In Vuyyuru, a physician who lost his 

license sued two former attorneys general, alleging that they were liable for violations committed 

during his license revocation proceedings because they oversaw the proceedings.  Id. at *2, 11.  

The complaint fell short because it “d[id] not allege any facts showing the two attorneys general 

personally made decisions regarding [the plaintiff‟s] prosecution.”  Id. at *12. 

Likewise, Dr. Manion has not alleged any facts showing that the Board-affiliated 

defendants personally participated in the violations he alleges.  Id.  Instead he attributes these 
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actions to the Board in general (called “NCMB”), and to the Board‟s prosecutor, who is not 

being sued.  (See Compl. ¶¶ 38-82.)  His one allegation against the individual defendants—that 

they “were and/or are personally involved in creating, implementing and carrying out the above-

mentioned unconstitutional practices” (id. ¶ 132)—is the same sort of conclusory, nonspecific 

allegation that the court rejected in Vuyyuru.  See 2011 WL 1483725, at *12. 

Accordingly, Dr. Manion‟s claims against the individual Board-affiliated defendants are 

insufficient as a matter of law.  Because these are the only defendants who could conceivably be 

sued under sections 1983 and 1985, see supra p. 8, Counts One through Five fail. 

 2. The procedural due process claims fail. 

Dr. Manion alleges that the defendants violated his rights to procedural due process by 

requiring evaluations of his mental health—both before his license inactivation and when he 

sought reinstatement—and by causing him to inactivate his license under the threat of 

involuntary suspension or revocation.  (Compl. ¶¶ 101, 116-18, 123.)  Neither of these theories 

states a plausible claim for a procedural due process violation. 

When the Medical Board orders a licensee to a mental evaluation, it is using its 

investigative power.  It is determining whether there is cause to take adjudicatory action against 

the licensee.  See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-14(i)-(j).  “When only investigative powers of an agency 

are utilized, due process considerations do not attach.”  Georator Corp. v. EEOC, 592 F.2d 765, 

768 (4th Cir. 1979).  That is because an investigation has no “legal effect in and of itself.”  Id. at 

769.  It is only when charges are filed and rights are adjudicated that due process rights attach.  

See id.  Courts in other jurisdictions faced with similar medical licensing boards‟ evaluation 

orders have concluded that the orders are investigatory and that due process rights do not attach.  

See, e.g., Humenansky v. Minn. Bd. of Med. Exam‟rs, 525 N.W.2d 559, 566 (Minn. Ct. App. 
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1994); Smith v. Bd. of Med. Quality Assurance, 248 Cal. Rptr. 704, 707-08 (Ct. App. 1988); see 

also N.D. Comm‟n on Med. Competency v. Racek, 527 N.W.2d 262, 264-66 (N.D. 1995) 

(holding that that a licensee‟s due process rights do not attach until charges are filed). 

Indeed, the New Hanover County Superior Court reached this exact conclusion when it 

dismissed Dr. Manion‟s earlier procedural due process claim against the Medical Board for 

failure to state a claim.  Exhibit 1 ¶ 13.  It explained that due process rights attached only once 

Dr. Manion was charged and that “he will have his hearing before the Board on February 21, 

2013.”  Id.  The only reason why that hearing never occurred is because Dr. Manion accepted a 

compromise and voluntarily inactivated his license.  (Compl. ¶¶ 73-77.)  

As these authorities show, Dr. Manion‟s due process rights did not attach at the stage 

when his mental health was being evaluated by the board. 

Dr. Manion also fails to plausibly allege that the process through which he inactivated his 

license violated his due process rights.  That is because “a procedural due process violation 

cannot have occurred [where] the governmental actor provides apparently adequate procedural 

remedies and the plaintiff has not availed himself of those remedies.”   Ashley v. NLRB, 255 F. 

App‟x 707, 710 (4th
 
Cir. 2007) (quoting Alvin v. Suzuki, 227 F.3d 107, 116 (3d Cir. 2000)).   

The application of this rule in Guthrie v. McClaskey, No. 1:11cv00061, 2012 WL 

5494457 (W.D. Va. Nov. 13, 2012) (unpublished), is instructive.  There, an occupational 

therapist was terminated from a state-run mental health facility.  Id. at *1.  The therapist filed an 

“employee grievance procedure,” but never took her charge to a hearing.  Id. at *5.  She claimed 

a violation of her due process rights under the theory that her hearing would not have been fair.  

Id.  The court dismissed the claim, reasoning that “plaintiff‟s conjecture as to whether any 

hearing would have been meaningful cannot support a procedural due process claim, as she 
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chose not to pursue her grievance through the hearing stage.”  Id.  

Similarly, here, Dr. Manion chose not to pursue a hearing and is now complaining of a 

lack of due process.  (Compl. ¶ 116.)  Dr. Manion accepted a plea deal.  He inactivated his own 

license and gave up the opportunity to challenge the Medical Board‟s prosecutor‟s determination 

that he was unfit to practice.  (Id. ¶¶ 74-77.)  North Carolina law afforded Dr. Manion a hearing 

where he could be represented by counsel, present evidence, and cross-examine witnesses.  N.C. 

Gen. Stat. § 90-14.2(a).  Because Dr. Manion decided not to avail himself of that process, it is 

implausible for him to assert now that the process that he chose to avoid was deficient. 

Thus, neither of Dr. Manion‟s theories for a procedural due process claim is plausible.  

3. The substantive due process claim fails. 

  Dr. Manion‟s claim for a substantive due process violation fails because (1) he does not 

plausibly allege that the defendants‟ actions are unjustified by any governmental interest, and (2) 

he ultimately had a choice whether to undergo the evaluation procedures he complains of. 

A substantive due process claim that challenges executive actions like these (as opposed 

to legislative actions) begins with a “threshold inquiry”:  “whether the challenged conduct was 

„so egregious, so outrageous, that it may fairly be said to shock the contemporary conscience.‟”  

Hawkins v. Freeman, 195 F.3d 732, 738 (4th Cir. 1999) (en banc) (quoting Cty. of Sacramento v. 

Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 847 n.8 (1998)).  To shock the conscience, the challenged action must be 

“unjustified by any circumstance or governmental interest, as to be literally incapable of 

avoidance by any pre-deprivation procedural protections or of adequate rectification by any post-

deprivation state remedies.”  Snider Int‟l Corp. v. Town of Forest Heights, 739 F.3d 140, 150 

(4th Cir. 2014).  If the conduct does not meet this threshold test, the claim fails.  See id. 

Dr. Manion cannot plausibly allege that the Medical Board‟s actions were “unjustified by 
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any circumstance or governmental interest.”  Id. at 150.  To the contrary, the need to protect the 

public is a governmental interest that justifies requiring such evaluations of physicians.  See 

supra p. 16.  That interest also justifies seeking license suspension for physicians who have been 

diagnosed as delusional.  In fact, Dr. Manion admits that “protecting the public from physicians 

with legitimately diagnosed mental health issues” is a “compelling state interest.”  (Compl. 

¶ 145.)  The conduct he alleges therefore does not shock the conscience.   

Given the strictness of the “shocks the conscience” test, the fact that Dr. Manion was not 

physically compelled to undergo these psychological evaluations further undercuts this claim.  

See Ryder v. Freeman, 918 F. Supp. 157, 162-63 (W.D.N.C. 1996).  In Ryder, a prison guard 

was required, as part of her job training, to be “sprayed in the face with pepper mace.”  Id. at 

159.  If she refused, she would lose her job.  Id.  The court held that this did not “shock the 

conscience” because the guard ultimately “ha[d] the freedom to choose not to be subjected to the 

challenged policy,” even though the consequences of refusing were harsh.   Id. at 162.  Similarly, 

here, Dr. Manion had the freedom to refuse the evaluations ordered by the Medical Board.  He 

faced a harsh consequence for refusing—public disciplinary charges before the Medical Board—

but as in Ryder, this job requirement does not shock the conscience. 

For these reasons, Dr. Manion fails to state a substantive due process violation. 

4. The Fourth Amendment claim fails. 

Dr. Manion‟s Fourth Amendment claim fails for three reasons.   

First, this claim is time-barred.  The limitations period for a section 1983 claim, borrowed 

from North Carolina law, is three years.  Tommy Davis Const., Inc. v. Cape Fear Pub. Util. 

Auth., 807 F.3d 62, 66-67 (4th Cir. 2015) (citing N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-52(5)).  The actions giving 

rise to Dr. Manion‟s Fourth Amendment claim are the drug tests and psychological evaluations 
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that occurred in December 2011 and January 2013—over three years before he filed his 

complaint in February 2016.  (Compl. ¶¶ 53, 72.) 

Second, like the substantive due process claim, this claim also fails because Dr. Manion 

ultimately had a choice whether to undergo these evaluations.  See supra pp. 24-25.   

Third, non-compelled psychiatric evaluations are not “searches” under the Fourth 

Amendment.  See Brewer v. Wis. Bd. of Bar Exam‟rs, 270 F. App‟x 418, 420 (7th Cir. 2008) 

(dismissing bar applicant‟s Fourth Amendment challenge to psychiatric-evaluation requirement).  

Goerlich v. Davis, No. 91C1743, 1991 WL 195772 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 25, 1991) (unpublished), for 

example, dismissed a police candidate‟s Fourth Amendment claim over a psychiatric evaluation 

administered with his application.  Although the evaluation involved shouting, “intimidating 

gestures,” and threats, the court explained that “[q]uestions, however unfriendly, do not 

constitute an unreasonable search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment.”  Id. at *1, 4. 

5. The section 1985 claim fails. 

Dr. Manion has not stated a plausible claim for conspiracy to interfere with civil rights.  

As this Court has recognized, the Fourth Circuit has established a very rigorous standard for 

alleging conspiracy claims under section 1985.  See, e.g., Barrett v. Bd. of Educ., 13 F. Supp. 3d 

502, 512 (E.D.N.C. 2014) (citing Simmons v. Poe, 47 F.3d 1370, 1376 (4th Cir. 1995)).  Section 

1985 plaintiffs must allege “concrete facts” that the defendants entered into a conspiratorial 

agreement.  Id.  Dr. Manion has not met this standard.   

Dr. Manion‟s conspiracy claim merely rehashes the same allegations that form the basis 

of his complaint against all defendants generally.  (Compl. ¶¶ 168-76.)  He makes no allegation 

that any particular Board-affiliated defendant reached an agreement with the others.  Id.; see 

supra pp. 21-22 (discussing lack of substantive allegations about individuals).  Dr. Manion 
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makes certain bald assertions of a conspiracy.  E.g., Compl. ¶ 169 (“All named Defendants acted 

and/or continue to act in concert . . . .”).  These amount to nothing more than “a mere recitation 

of the elements of a section 1985 claim and without factual elaboration . . . cannot withstand a 

motion to dismiss.”  Barrett, 13 F. Supp. 3d at 513.   

As alleged against the Medical Board and the Board-related defendants, moreover, Dr. 

Manion‟s conspiracy claim fails for an independent reason:  the intra-enterprise doctrine.  

Because these defendants are alleged to have acted in the course of their Medical Board duties, 

see supra pp. 9-10, they are operating as one entity and incapable of conspiring for section 1985 

purposes.  Mbadiwe v. Union Mem‟l Reg‟l Med. Ctr., No. 3:05CV49, 2005 WL  

3186949, *3 (W.D.N.C. 2005) (unpublished). 

* * * 

 For all of these reasons, Dr. Manion fails to state claims under sections 1983 and 1985.  

Even if he could state claims, the Board-affiliated defendants would still be entitled to qualified 

immunity because it was not “beyond debate” that they violated the law.  West, 771 F.3d at 213. 

VI. THE BOARD-AFFILIATED DEFENDANTS CANNOT BE SUED UNDER THE ADA, 

AND DR. MANION FAILS TO STATE A PLAUSIBLE CLAIM IN ANY EVENT. 

 

 The claims for violation of Title II of the ADA fail for three reasons.  (Compl. ¶ 187.) 

 First, individuals may not be sued under this statute.  “Only public entities are subject to 

Title II [of the ADA].”  Sheehan, 135 S. Ct. at 1773; accord H.B. v. State Bd. of Educ., No. 4:14-

CV-204-BO, 2015 WL 2193778, at *6 (E.D.N.C. May 11, 2015) (unpublished).  Thus, Dr. 

Manion fails to state claims against the individual-capacity defendants.  

 Second, this claim is time-barred.  The statute of limitations for an ADA claim arising in 

North Carolina is two years.  See Mary‟s House, Inc. v. North Carolina, 976 F. Supp. 2d 691, 

699 (M.D.N.C. 2013).  Dr. Manion was required to participate in NCPHP in October 2011 and 
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his license was inactivated in February 2013.  (Compl. ¶¶ 52, 76.)  Both occurred more than two 

years before he filed this complaint in February 2016. 

Third, Dr. Manion‟s theory for liability under the ADA is illogical.  Title II provides that 

“no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from 

participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public 

entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132.  Dr. Manion alleges that NCPHP is the applicable “service, program, 

or activity” for the purposes of Title II.  (Compl. ¶¶ 185-86).  But he does not allege, as he would 

have to, that he has been “excluded from participation in” or “denied the benefits of” NCPHP.  

42 U.S.C. § 12132; see Tyner v. Brunswick Cty. Dep‟t of Soc. Servs., 776 F. Supp. 2d 133, 149 

(E.D.N.C. 2011).  Instead, he was asked to use this service.  (Compl. ¶¶ 188-89.)   

 For all these reasons, Dr. Manion fails to state a plausible claim for relief under the ADA. 

VII. DR. MANION‟S STATE TORT CLAIMS FAIL.
7
 

 Dr. Manion‟s claims against all defendants for intentional infliction and negligent 

infliction of emotional distress fail for a variety of reasons. 

 First, the Medical Board and its affiliated official-capacity defendants are entitled to 

sovereign immunity under state law.
8
  North Carolina “may not be sued in its own courts or 

elsewhere unless by statute it has consented to be sued or has otherwise waived its immunity 

from suit.”  N.C. Ins. Guar. Ass‟n v. Bd. of Trs. of Guilford Tech. Cmty. Coll., 364 N.C. 102, 

107, 691 S.E.2d 694, 697 (2010).  Claims against official-capacity state officers are claims 

                                                 
7
  If the Court dismisses all claims over which it has original jurisdiction, the Medical 

Board and the Board-affiliated defendants respectfully request that the Court decline to exercise 

supplemental jurisdiction over these state law claims.  28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3); Laredo v. CRST 

Malone, Inc., 820 F. Supp. 2d 698, 702 (E.D.N.C. 2011). 

 
8
  Sovereign immunity under state law is distinct from and in addition to Eleventh 

Amendment immunity.  See Stewart v. North Carolina, 393 F.3d 484, 487-88 (4th Cir. 2005); 

Lombardo v. Pa. Dep‟t of Pub. Welfare, 540 F.3d 190, 199-200 (3d Cir. 2008). 
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“against the State for the purposes of applying the doctrine of sovereign immunity.”  Parks v. 

N.C. Dep‟t of Pub. Safety, No. 5:13-CV-74-BR, 2014 WL 32064, at *5 (E.D.N.C. Jan. 6, 2014) 

(unpublished) (quoting Harwood v. Johnson, 92 N.C. App. 306, 309, 374 S.E.2d 401, 404 

(1988)).  North Carolina has enacted a “limited waiver” of sovereign immunity in its Tort Claims 

Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 143-291 to -300.1A (2015).  Parks, 2014 WL 32064, at *5.  This Act 

does not, however, waive immunity for intentional torts.  Id.  Thus, the Medical Board and its 

official-capacity defendants may not be sued for intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

Second, state law expressly immunizes the “[Medical] Board and its members and staff” 

from liability “for exercising, in good faith, the powers and duties authorized by law.”  N.C. Gen. 

Stat. § 90-14(e).  Thus, the Board-affiliated defendants may not be sued for negligent infliction 

related to their Medical Board duties.  See Shannon v. Testen, 777 S.E.2d 153, 156 (N.C. Ct. 

App. 2015) (holding that negligence does not constitute bad faith). 

Third, although the Tort Claims Act authorizes claims for negligence against state 

agencies, the act vests the North Carolina Industrial Commission with “exclusive and original 

jurisdiction” to hear negligence claims.  Guthrie v. N.C. State Ports Auth., 307 N.C. 522, 540, 

299 S.E.2d 618, 628 (1983); see Parks, 2014 WL 32064, at *6.  Because Dr. Manion has not 

brought his claim before the Industrial Commission, the Court lacks jurisdiction over the claim. 

Fourth, as discussed supra pp. 21-22, the complaint fails to plausibly allege how any of 

the individual defendants were personally involved in any allegedly unlawful acts. 

Finally, Dr. Manion‟s allegations foreclose an essential element of these claims:  severe 

emotional distress.  Dr. Manion must establish that the events in question have caused him to 

suffer an “emotional or mental disorder, such as, for example, neurosis, psychosis, chronic 

depression, phobia, or any other type of severe and disabling emotional or mental condition 
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which may be generally recognized and diagnosed by professionals trained to do so.”  Johnson v. 

Ruark Obstetrics & Gynecology Assocs., P.A., 327 N.C. 283, 304, 395 S.E.2d 85, 97 (1990); see 

May v. City of Durham, 136 N.C. App. 578, 586, 525 S.E.2d 223, 230 (2000).  He affirmatively 

alleges, however, that he “has never suffered from mental or emotional health issues.”  (Compl. 

¶ 41 (emphasis added).)  Indeed, his entire complaint depends on the assertion that he has not 

experienced a “severe and disabling” condition.  Johnson, 327 N.C. at 304, 395 S.E.2d at 97.  Dr. 

Manion‟s state-law claims cannot coexist with his factual allegations. 

CONCLUSION 

The moving defendants respectfully request that the Court dismiss Dr. Manion‟s 

complaint and grant all other relief that the Court considers just. 

This 11th day of April, 2016. 
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